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Some of the earliest settlers bought or traded for land from the
Indians, others simply moved in and established a home, they were
squatters but most of them were allowed to homestead or buy the land
on which they lived.

A few excerpts taken from a history, of another place, written in
1876 by James McCollum, who was born about 1800 and lived through the
era of which we are writing; he states, "The early emigrants had to
cut a road to the place they had selected for a home, usually near a
spring if possible, they built a temporary shelter and later a house
of logs; there were no nails or plank, the houses had to be put to-
gether with wooden pegs; their only tools were a chopping ax, a broad
ax, a few chisles and maybe a plane; with these he made everything;
such was the indispensable outfit of the early settler, together with
his rifle and knife. To the women it was cruelly indispensable to
have a spinning wheel, cards, and a loom to weave their cloth.

The men were all hunters from necessity, in this way they
provided meat for their families. The early settlers tanned their own
Teather to make shoes and harness.

Most houses had one big room where they did their living,
sleeping, and cooking, they cooked on the fire place which was six
feet wide or more; if a young man wanted to woo a girl he had to do so
in this room, it was said that some of the most effective courting was
done in this manner

| think the above may very well apply to the pioneer people who
lived here at that time.

The people were mostly farmers, having been farmers before they
came to this country, and so to develop a farm it was necessary to
clear the land of trees, most of which were large, and with only an ax
to cut them it was slow hard work, any one who could get land that was
already cleared by the Indians or could get land in this reedbrake,
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which could be easily cleared for farming, were considered lucky.
They used as much of the timber as they could to build houses and
barns and to make rails to fence the land.

There were plenty of free flowing springs all over the country,
and nearly every one built their house near a spring. Evidently they
did not discover until later that good water could be had by digging a
shallow well.

The land was very fertile and produced large crops. When the
land began to wear out they just cleared a new ground; most farmers
had a big log rolling every year. No commercial fertilizer was used
until late in the century.

My father told of his first experience with this fertilizer: "a
merchant in Tuscaloosa sold me a bag of this stuff” he said, It was
shipped from South America and called guano; he said " When | put it
out in the field it smelled so bad that the buzzards gathered around

The farmers planted crops that would furnish food for their
families and feed for their livestock. During the first few years
they grew only a small crop of cotton, and that for making clothing;
there were no gins then and the seed had to be picked out by hand to
be spun into thread. Corn, Wheat, oats; and barley were the grain
crops. The wheat was carried to a mill on Binions Creek to be ground
into flour. Later a flour mill was operated in Pickens County. This
mill, or another, was still in operation in 1315. That year my father
and Uncle "Bud” Yerby grew some wheat and carried it to this mill to
make flour.

They also grew a good variety of vegetab
sheep and cattle; some of which they sold to "
in a little money.

s, had plenty of hogs,
rovers" thus bringing

They did not have, nor did they need much money in those days,
they used the barter system in buying and selling.

These drovers went over the country buying hogs and cattle and
drove them to market on foot. They bought corn from farmers to feed
the hogs.
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They had sheep to furnish wool for their clothing, which was made
at home, the men wore jeans and the women wore linsey for their dress
up clothes; the work and summer clothes were made of cotton. These
people made everthing they could for the home and farm; in addition to
their clothes, they had shoes made from hides they had tanned at home;
even mens hats were home made; there was a family by the name of
sandford, living near Concord, who made hats, using fur from rabbits;
sandford hats were well known in the last century.

Each family had a flock of geese to furnish feathers for their
beds. Many of the men had a still and made whiskey for their own use
and for sale. We have a copy of a will made by Jeremiah Guin, dated
Oct. 28, 1841, one item he left to his wife, Rebecca, was a 40 gallon
barrel of whiskey.

Superstitions were prevalent in those days; they had many "voo-
doo" remedies to cure their ills and to ward off bad luck; many of
these superstitions are still believed by a few people today.

There were witches in those days, and ghosts or haints. Every-
body in this community will remember Nance Maddox, an old Negro woman
who lived with us for many years; according to her she had known some
witches, and had seen "haints". Some of the stories that she used to
tell would make a good television show.

Most of the pioneer families were large; each man's home was
ruled with a firm hand, ever striving to make their world a little
better, working to improve their standard of living, seeking to make a
prosperous home, church and community; and this they had accomplished
to a great extent during the fifth decade. The people had, as a whole
become prosperous, there were at least eight men living here who were
considered wealthy; the 1860 census and tax records show them to be
worth from $30,000 to $60,000, many others were in a good financial
condition. I think most of this property was slaves and land.

Among the good citizens was the other side, the outlaws, murder-
ers; robbers were there too; many murders were committed, those that
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| have information of will be told later. There were so many robbers
in the country it was dangerous to carry any money, they did not
hesitate to kill for it; there were no banks nearer than Tuscaloosa,
and had there been most people were afraid to use them so they buried
their money; even then some men were murdered or tortured for refus-
ing to give up their money.

Many other crimes were committed in those days; one such crime
which indirectly concerned our family was, as | remember, Thomas
Cates, father of Jack Cates who married Louisa (Aunt Lou) Shepherd,
made his will (we have a copy) dividing his property and stating how
much gold he had to be divided among his children, on his death bed
one of his sons got him to tell him where the gold was buried, which
was under a stone in front of the house, this son dug up the money and
told his mother he was going to count it, he carried it away and never
came back.

This was told years ago in our family, and substantiated by Mrs.
Addie Holliman whom we talked to about three years ago (now deceased),
she was a grand daughter of Molly Cates, one of Thomas Cates children.
Mrs. Holliman, age 94 at that time was a great grand daughter of Simon
Poe, told us of visiting in the home of Mr. Poe when she was a girl;
she was raised across the river from Newtonville and knew most of the
older people here, and told us quite a lot about them and my mother's
family which was very interesting to me; she was married the first
time to a cousin of my father and told me a lot of his family.

She also told of a man in her community who hired a man from
Northport to come up there and kill one of his neighbors, he gave this
man a saddle horse to do the job, she told the names of the people
involved but I don't recall any except one of the men was a Mr.
Pennington.
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ScHooLs

Educational facilities were very limited almost all of the last
century; the earliest school that I have heard of was taught by Mrs.
Ann Welch at New Lexington in the 1830's, this was a boarding school
for girls; several girls from Newtonville attended this school,
including in this group were Mrs. Czerina Gravlee and my grand mother
Maria Shepherd.

Probably the first school held in Newtonville was in the first
Shepherd church building, and continued there until after the Civil
War, when a school house was built on the old Fayette road, near the
present negro church; many people still living attended school there.

Mrs. J. M. Holliman (Lizzie Baker) says she attended school
there, said most of the time they only had one teacher, so one of the
older girls was used to help teach the younger children. She said
that Mrs. Willie Mayfield served as helper some of the time.

Their school terms were short, about 3 or 4 months in the winter
and maybe a few weeks in the summer; there they were taught the 3R's,
later other subjects were added. Spelling was emphasized in the
regular schools, using the Blue Back Speller, this book was used by
everyone from the beginners to the highest grades; my father kept his
speller and valued it very highly; in addition to every known word of
that ere, it had many proverbs from the Bible printed in it also some
of Aesop’s fables and sayings from Poor Richards Almanac.

Another well known book they studied was McGuffies Reader; many
stories of foreign lands were told in it and much knowledge of the
world was learned from reading this book, it had to substitute for
history and geography as these subjects were seldom taught in the
early schools.

| never had the opportunity to study these books, because they
had changed to graded books when | started to school.

In addition to the regular schools, they sometimes had special
schools; in which only one subject was taught. A teacher would go in a
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community and agree to teach a special subject for an agreed amount of
money, which was paid by the patrons, this included free board; these
schools usually ran 6 weeks.

My father said he never had the opportunity to attend the regular
schools but very little; most of his education was from these special
schools and home study. He said that he went to one school where the
only subject taught was arithmetic, and another where only writing was
taught.

These “Schoolmasters”, most of them were men, because the job was
too hard for a woman in those days, were very firm with many rules
that must be obeyed; they had to be tough for many of the students
were grown boys, most children continued to attend school until they
got married or until they reached the age of 21. These boys were
sometimes hard to control, thus making it necessary to use a good
stout hickory limb, and it was used or the boy had to leave school
when he disobeyed.

There were a few people who never attended school for one reason
or another, therefore never learned to read nor even write their
names .

Many others, however, who were financially able or had enough
ambition went to college.

In the time between 1875 and 1900 there were six young men who
studied medicine, and two were dentists, many others were teachers.
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CEMETERIES

When the first settlers came to this country there were no public
cemeteries, so they buried their dead in a plot on the farm, thus
starting family cemeteries; sometimes relatives and close friends used
these plots.

As churches were established a cemetery was usually started
nearby. We know of several of these cemeteries, there may be others
that we don’t know about. The Simon Poe cemetery, on the Hayes
place, was probably the first as his father, Maj. James Poe, died soon
after they came here; | can remember when there were some markers
there, but they are gone now, however several graves can be seen with
a rock marking the grave.

Another cemetery, started by Martin Nall, located on the Bradley
Gravlee farm, once there were several graves there but only one can be
seen now.

Nathan Nall also had a family plot that was used by his
descendants until a few years ago.

Another cemetery, | am told, was rather large and started by
Michael Shepherd about 1850, and located across the road from Mute
Baker's home; the Shepherds used it until about 1875, several others
are buried there; | understand there is no sign of it now.

Mention is made of the first public cemetery in the part about
the church; | have been told this was an Indian burial ground, but
have no proof.

The first burial in O1d Shepherd Cemetery was about 1860, some
families still use it.

The cemetery near the church was started by Dr. W. W. Jones as a
family plot; Mrs. Mayfield tells us that when one of her father's
children died, he asked Jacob Shepherd to help select a site for the
burial, then Dr. Jones said "Jake | want you to use this place as your
cemetery too”, and so it was used until about 1890, when others wanted
to bury there; Dr. Jones said "yes let anyone who wishes to use it",
and gave it to the church to be known as Shepherd Church Cemetery.
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Newtonville was named for a Mr. Newton, who came here soon after
1800 and established a trading post. His trade was with Indians and
the few white men who had begun to settle here; his supplies were
probably brought in through Mobile and up the river as far as the
boats could go, then by pack horse the rest of the way. This store
was located on the Mayfield place, across the road from Mr. Andrew
Sanders home; the building was made of logs which was later torn down
and rebuilt with lumber. He, or someone who followed him in the
business later, operated a small grist mill along with the store; it
was the first mill in thie country to grind corn and possibly wheat.

| was born and lived within 100 yards of this place, have played
many times in the building; it was vacated years before but the old
mill rocks were there at that time.

The first settlers had to come in by horse back, as there were no
roads or they had to cut roads as they went. One important road was
built about the time of the Creek indian War, known as the Byler Road,
which was built from northern Alabama via. Tuscaloosa to Mobile; this
road passed through New Lexington, about ten miles east of Newton-
ville. Another road, known locally as The Carrolton Road, led from
Florence to some towns on the Tombigbee River; this road passed about
two miles west of Newtonville.

Shortly after these roads were built, a road connecting them was
built by Newtonville. By 1820 another road was built from Newtonville
by Moore's Bridge to Tuscaloos: These two roads were the ones mostly
used by the people as they moved into this country.

We have no record of the first white people who lived here, but
the Tract Books show the first to enter land was THOMAS DAVIS who
settled the Charley Smith place in 1823, along with JOHN McGOWEN who
settled the Jim Driver place.

| understand there were some Federal land grants issued before
this time.

1
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We have no idea who McGowen was or what became of his family; he
may have been with the group who left Newtonville for Arkansas and
Texas between 1850 and 1860. There are several Davis families in this
country now, some of them may be decendants of Thomas Davis.

One group of people came from Anson County N.C in 1817 and
settled a few miles out of Northport, at Bethel, or at least they

established a church called Bethel, some of these people later moved
to Newtonville.

In 1826 several families left Anson County heading west, as they
said, people in North Carolina still speak of Alabama as being west.

They traveled by wagon, ox cart, and on horse back; | am told
that some even used a Trevois, a device used by Indians consisting of
two poles with a frame, the poles dragging on the ground and pulled by
a horse or an ox.

Their route brought them through the northern part of South
Carolina and Georgia. There was a trail, used by the Cherokee Indians
on their trips to Indian Towns on the Coosa River; this was later
called the Lawrenceburg trace.

This was probably the route used by these settlers; they entered
Alabama followed the valley through what is now Birmingham on to
Tuscaloosa, and crossed the Warrior River there; there were no bridges
at that time so it was necessary to cross on a ferry or rafts; one, a
Mr. Evins who now lives in Tuscaloosa and who is well informed on

events of those days, says that during dry weather and before the dams
were built, the water was low enough to ford.

But some way they crossed and went north, some stopped near
Northport, others as they found land that they liked.

Only three of these families, that | am sure of, found their way
to Newtonville; they were Simon Poe, Isaac Shepherd and Thomas Lucas.

Other families continued to arrive each year from other states
but most of the people who settled in Newtonville came from Anson
County N.C.
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Many of these people lived only a short time in Alabama, then
moved on, seeking richer land and greener pastures; but those who
stayed and those who came later helped to make an interesting commu-
nity, and left a heritage of which we are proud.

The people of Newtonville attended church at Spring Hill, which
was established in 1827. | recall Grandmother telling of going to
church there in an ox wagon when she was a girl. They carried their
slaves who were also members of the church; slaves were also buried in
a plot adjoining the cemeteries.

In 1832 a Baptist Preacher, by the name of David Andrews, came
from South Carolina, first preaching at Bethel. Within about a year
he moved to New Lexington where he preached for many years. He
preached Missionary Baptist doctrines, and held revival meetings all
over the country; according to his book (THE HISTORY OF DAVID) 97
persons were saved and joined the church at one of these meetings.

He helped organize several churches over this country; he was
known as the father of the North River Association.

Since Spring Hill was a Primative Baptist church, at that time,
they did not accept his teachings; in fact they passed an ordinance
prohibiting any member attending one of his meetings or listening to
him preach. If anyone violated this rule they were to be dismissed
from the church; some went to hear him anyway and were promptly turned
out.

About ten families from Newtonville were in this group. They
called on Bro. Andrews to help them organize a church, which he did.

They met in the home of Isaac Shepherd and there established
Shepherd Church in 1834.

As they had no building in which to hold services they cleaned
out a sheep house and used that until a building could be erected.

13
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As soon as possible they erected a building of logs, heated with

a fire place. It had open windows with wooden shutters, and the seats
were made of logs split open and smoothed with an ax or adz (there
must have been splinters left so I guess they had to sit still or....)

These logs had holes bored near the end with pegs driven into them for
legs.

Miss Emma Shepherd gave us this information about the church and
where it was located as it was told to her by her father. She also
told us of the first public cemetery which was located near by. We
visited this cemetery and found a large number of graves, but only one
with a marker; this was for Sarah Blakeney, born 1807, died 1861, she
was the wife of Thomas Blakeney.

The location of the church and cemetery is about 100 yards west
of the Negro school. The building was used as a school house during
this time. | believe the building was used for school several years
after the church was moved, as | have been told that Mrs. Baker (born
1859) said she went to school there.

Arch Gibson told me that he and Mack Shepherd dug the grave for
the last funeral that was held there, some time about 1895; the
funeral was for a Miss Harton, an aged lady who lived across the river
with a Negro maid.

This building was used until about the time of the Civil War,
then a new house was built at what is known as O1d Shepherd Church,
about two miles west of Newtonville. This building was also made of
logs, and used until 1898.

The people decided to build a new church, and move to a location
nearer the center of population.

A contract was given to J. N. (Bud) Yerby to furnish labor and
material to build the church for $325.00. The lumber was cut and
dressed at his mill on Martin Creek and hauled to the building site on
an ox wagon.

The land was given by Dr. W. W. Jones, and the deed was signed by
Dr. T. W. Jones, Dr. William A. Graham and wife Dora, Mr. and Mrs. P.
P. Mayfield.

14
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The deed reads, in part, Jones estate to Shepherd Church; that
for and in consideration of the esteem and love we have for the church
at Newtonville, we do hereby give said church, as long as it is used
for such purposes, the following real estate...to have and to hold for
the benefit of the church. The Deacons at that time were Wiley
Gravlee, John Sullivan, and Marsh Patterson. This building was used
until about 1940 when it was moved to the present location.

Shepherd Church was established in 1834. Bro. Andrews says, in
his book, (The History of the North River Association) that this was
the third Missionary Baptist church organized in this country.

This was the only church ever organized in Newtonville, so far as
| know. There was a church about three miles North-West of here. |
think that it was a Methodist church; but it has ceased to exist. A
story was told, while they were building the church, Grandpa Shepherd
passed there one day and someone asked him if he thought it would do,
to which he replied "yes but it will be a poor do". | have never
heard it called any thing but "poor do", in fact | never heard its
real name.

There was a school house, called Sipsey Valley, that may have
been used for church services at some time. | have not been able to
learn very much about it. It was originally located on the Mense
Hughes place.

There was a cemetery near by where according to Carl Elliott, in
his book (Annals of North West Alabama), Charles Lucas, one of the
first settlers of Newtonville, is buried there, along with some
indians.

15
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After the first settlers came, more and more people continued to
arrive from the Carolinas, Georgia and Tennessee. The heaviest
movement seemed to be between 1830 and 1840 according to land records.

By 1830 the following people were living in Newtonville.

NAMES DATE ENTERED LAND  NAMES DATE ENTERED LAND
Simon Poe 1826 Thomas Davis 1822
Isaac Shepherd 1826 John McGowen 1822
Nathan Nall 1826 Robert Bridges 1825
Thomas Lucas 1826 calvin Poe 1829
Charles Lucas 1827 Martin Nall 1829

By 1840 the following people had arrived. Perhaps there were
more who are not on the records that we have.

Their names and land entries.
Elkanah Ward; who gave land for the first church and cemetery. 1832
Isaac Langsdale 1832; Levi Guin 1832; Hogan Yerby 1832; Thomas
Blakeney 1832; Peter Lowery 1833; Rubin Strong 1833; Johnson Strong
1833; Francis Price 1833; Jason Guin 1834; William Rainwater 1834; J.
J. Reynolds 1836; Jacob Shepherd 1836; Warren, Cornelious, and Charles
Hollimann all in 1836.

There was a family living in Anson Co. N.C., William Shepherd Jr.
and wife Elizabeth, who were the parents of 15 children. After the
death of the father, in 1843, Elizabeth with three of her sons
Michael, Robert and Richmond Mack, also a single daughter, Elizabeth,
and two married daughters, came to Newtonville in 1845. They joined
two brothers who were already here, Isaac and Jacob.

Another Brother, Thomas, came in 1854. The mother, Elizabeth,
was murdered by her Negro maid in 1850. When they asked her why she
did it, she said "the other negros told me | would be free if | killed
my missis".

She was later hanged for the crime.

16
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Newtonville is said to be one of the oldest communities in
Fayette County; and was probably the heaviest populated by 1850, since
e eould support the business of four large stores. In addition to
the trading post there was a store operated by Simon Poe, one by
e mond Mack Shepherd, and another one by Georoe Trawick.

For several years the people had to depend upon travelers to
bring mail and messages from their friends back home. After a mail
Poute was established, some time in the early 40's, the "mail rider”
e a trip from Tuscaloosa once & week on horse back and delivered
The mail to their homes or some other centrally located place. A Post
Office was established about 1850, with R. . Shepherd as Post master;
OE M woe Hiscontinued after a few years, to be reestablished soon after
the Givil War with Jacob Shepherd as Post Master. This job changed
hamds quite often, probably because pay was =o small. In 1903 Mrs.
N0 e Mayfield decided to give up the office, because of her small

Y nildren, she told me this the last time | saw her; my father, John H.
Sullivan, took the office. His salary was about $75 per year when he
Sarted. but he built the business up until it paid over $1500.00. He
Sttired in 1938 after 35 years in service. At that time the Office
was discontinued.

Betweem 1850 and 1900 there were several post Offices scattered
over the country; there was one called pilgrim, near Pilgrims Rest
hanch, Hico was on the old Fayette Road, Bea? was located near Jones
W11, and Loco was in the spring Hill Community. All of these were
discontinued when the Rural Routes were established. Jacob Gibson was
Jarrier on Route 1 out of Newtonville for over 30 years; when he

OO hed the route was combined with Route 1 out of Fayette.
About 1858 there was talk of a rail road to be built through
here, in fact a preliminary survey was made. Soon a town site was
D ected and lots seld, in expectation of building a town. This
e cite was located between the church and the Paulio Wallace place.

[May have been intended to be paulie wallace, but was spelled paulio.]
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Many records of deeds, made then, state the property is located
in the town of Newtonville.

The War stopped plans for the rail road, and the town never
developed as they expected. Most of the lots were put up for sale,
we have records of where Jacob Shepherd bought 14 of these lots; later
he sold some of them to Dr. W. W. Jones along with some other land.
Mariah Shepherd kept one of the lots until 1880 and sold it to Dr.
James Jones.

Not much cotton was grown before 1850, it being so far to
market; it was necessary to carry it to Tuscaloosa or Columbus, Miss.
The price was very low sometimes as low as .04 per pound. | have not
been able to learn when the first cotton gin was operated here.

About 1850 some one hit upon the idea of building rafts or barges
to float the cotton down Sipsey River to where it empties into the
Tombigbee, and there sell it or ship it on to Mobile and sold it
there. It was necessary to wait for winter and spring rains to flood
the river so it would be deep enough to float the rafts. It was on

returning from one of those trips that Everette Yerby was killed and
robbed.

Sipsey River was used at other times for shipping; an item from
the Eutaw Mirror (Greene County) dated July 15, 1878 states "a corres-
pondent of The Northport New Era says the people of Newtonville are
delighted with a prospect of having a steamer ply the Sipsy next fall.
Mr. Wilson, an old boat man, says the river is sufficently free of
obstructions, and that his boat will be ready for the fall trade.”

Another item from the Eutaw Mirror, dated Apr. 13, 1886, states
“A few days ago Capt. T. C. Olive of Fayette C.H. returning from a
trial trip with logs to Mobile by way of Sipsey River gave us an
interesting account of the voyage and its results. The main object
was to demonstrate that it was practicable to open up the stream to
successful navagation. The crew carried a raft of 127 logs from
Fayette to Mobile with little difficulty; and from the observations
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and experiments made during the trip, Capt. Olive believes that with
but little expense the river can be made navigable to Fayette C. H.
for four or five months of the year, thereby giving ample transport-
ation for the products of a large and fertile territory to the City of
Mobile. Which at much expense, has been compelled to seek other and
less favorable markets. As soon as the water subsides sufficently,
the company proposes to put a force to work at the mouth of Sipsey to
clear out the river, first to Sipsey Mills, and, it successful to that
point, of which Capt. Olive says there is no doubt, will push the
scheme with vigor until the whole is completed.

We are indebted to Mrs. Margurete Callahan of Tuscaloosa for the
above items. Also many other articles of historical interest.

| don't know what the results of those plans were, but at least
they made an effort. There is a sunken boat near the Savage place
that can still be seen, when the water is low. Mama said "every body
went to the river to see the first boat come up the river,” | don't
know enough about it to tell the story; but | think they may have made
a few runs before a rail road was built through Fayette in 1889.

In 1900 a company, headed by Mr. Claud Craft, bought a large
amount of timber around Newtonville and sent it down the river on
rafts, to a furniture factory at or near Mobile. One of these rifts
sank not far below the old bridge; my father showed it to me, when |
was a boy, and explained what happened. | saw it a few years ago, and
am sure it can still by seen in times of low water.

Also about 1908 or 1910, some men, Ernest and Joe Franks, |
believe their names were, bought a lot of white oak timber, split it
into staves bolts and sent it down the river on barges.

Sipsey River was called "Sapio” by the Indians.
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During the Civil War most people had a hard time, due to the fact
that so many of the young men were away at war. Some of the families
had no one to work their farms except women, children, and the older
men. In the latter part of the war many Negros deserted their owners
and refused to work.

| have not been able to get a complete list of the men, from this
community, who fought in the Civil War. To name a few that |
personally know about, there were perhaps many more, Issam Freeman; I.
M. Whitney; Frank Brotherton; Mart Shepherd; Rev. G. W. Gravlee;
William Blakeney; there were also some who fought or served as spies
for the Union Army.

There was a group of men, known as the Home Guard, organized for
the purpose of protecting the people, controlling the slaves, and
returning soldiers who were A.W.0.L. and others who were trying to
avoid going to war. Instead they became outlaws, roaming the
countryside, looting and robbing the people of their food and
clothing. They were really worse than the Yankees. | was told that
the Yankees came through here at least one time, but did little
damage, and took only a small amount of food, perhaps because there
was not much to take.

Grandmother said, "the Home Guard came to our house one day and
ordered me to cook dinner for 15 men in 15 minutes; they went to the
smokehouse, cut a ham, and ordered me to cook the best part of it;
they also wanted white biscuits and real coffee.” They had no white
flour because they grew their own wheat and all they had was whole
wheat flour, they had no real coffee, it was hard to get, so they used
a substitute much of the time; they roasted peas and sometimes acorns
as a substitute for coffee; and a tea from roots and barks of certain
plants.

At the same time these men went to the crib and took baskets of
corn and poured it on the ground for their horses to eat. she said,
"when they found a good horse they would take it and leave a plug in
its place.” They had a slave named Green, and when they heard that
the Home Guard was coming they would send Green with the good horses
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to what they called the reedbrake and keep them hidden there until the
men left.

During the war and for a while afterwards the people were not
able to buy many of the things that were needed, so they had to
improvise. Salt was scarce and impossible to get at times. Some dug
the dirt from the smokehouse, it had become salty from meat being
salted there, they boiled it and drained off the water into pans to
evaporate, thus getting a little salt in that manner; we have an
account of a sale, to settle an estate, where 100 Ibs. of salt sold
for $60.00.

They also made their medicines and treated their ills themselves.
Many people continued to do this for years, even after they had

doctors. Aunt Lou Cates was a great believer in herbs; | always
enjoyed going with her to get the roots and barks when | was a boy,
but it was quite different when | had to take her medicine. | don't

know how effective it was, but you sure got well in a hurry when Aunt
Lou got her tonic for you.

About 1885 another railroad was surveyed through here, several
hundred acres of land was given to the company along the route; all of
this land reverted to the original owners when the road failed to
develop.

Many great changes have occurred in the life of this community
since its beginning. | see a fifty year cycle definitely showing; in
1810 this was a land covered with virgin forests; 50 years later all
cultivateable land had been cleared and was being worked by slaves;
after the Civil War and freedom for the slaves much of the land was
allowed to grow into forests again; we can still see, in the bottom
lands, old ditches dug by the slaves to drain the land. After another
50 years the land was covered with timber again; then the Basket
Lumber Co. later Brown Lumber Co. bought the timber, and much of it
was again put in to cultivation.

Now, | see many farmers are letting their land return to timber.
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There were three Revolutionary War Veterans who came to
Newtomville.  There may have been more but we know of no others at
this time.

Major James Poe came with his son, Simon Poe, in 1826; he died
soon after and is buried in the Poe Cemetery. lsaac Langsdale was T4
years old when he homesteaded land here in 1833. Johnson Strong,

Y eother veteran, was 72 when he settled here in 1833.

|t seems a little strange that men of that age would leave their
o1d homes and come into a new country and settle. | think they may
Pave come with their children; there was a Reubin Strong who came in
N33 but we have not found another Langsdale. Again we are confronted
33h the Fact that so many records of that period, in Fayette, have
en Tost, making it hard to get very much information about the early
settlers.

The last two men are probably buried in unmarked grayes some-
Where in or near Newtonville. I'm sure the D.A.R. would like to place
e ke ot their graves if it were possible to find them.

The following pages will give a short sketch of a few of the
families who helped to settle this community, also a few who lived in
Newtonville before the turn of the century.

There were many important families who lived here before the
Civil War, and even after, that moved away and have no descendents
bava nows at this time | am unable to get any information on them, and
o only state their names as they appear on the records.

|f anyone is interested in any of the people mentioned in this
story | shall be glad to give them what information that | have.
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Simon Poe, probably the largest landholder of his time in this
community, was one of the first men to enter land in Newtonville; in
1826 he and a group of friends and relatives made the trip from Anson
County, North Carolina.

He made a cedar chest large enough to make a bed for his aged
father to ride in and brought him along; we are corresponding with
Mrs. Livingston of Little Rock, Ark. who had this chest in her
possession at this time; she is a great grand daughter of Simon Poe.

His father, Maj. James Poe, lived only a short while after his
arrival here, and is buried in the Poe Family Cemetery, located on
what is known as the Hayes place.

The 1850 census gives him as owning 1000 acres of land and 11
slaves; does not mention any other property except a store in "The
town of Newtonville".

After the war he begun selling this land, some of the buyers
were Dr. W. W. Jones, I. M. Whitney; J. M (Mart) Shepherd, and Issam
Freeman.

Simon Poe was a great man in church and civic affairs; he did a
lot to help make Newtonville the important community that it was.

A story was told, that during the war he had two of his negros
carry a trunk to the cemetery told the negros not to watch him and
never tell about it, he soon returned to the house with his shovel; it
was thought he buried his money to keep the yankees or home guard
from taking it. The negros told the story after his death. Many
years later two of the graves were dug into, and | am told other spots
were found on the farm where people had dug holes hoping to find
buried treasure.

He died in 1875 and was buried in the family cemetery, there are
several graves there but no markers, they have all been destroyed.

His children were: Calvin married Anna Willingham; Simon;
Peninah married Martin Nall; Martha married Isaac Shepherd; Apsy
married Francis Price; Mary married Edward Lowery; and Gatsey married
Thomas Lucas.
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THE SHEPHERD BROTHERS

Isaac Shepherd was the first of the Shepherds to come to this
country. He was born in 1800 in Anson County N.C. in 1823 he married
Martha Poe, daughter of Simon Poe; their first child, William, was
born 1825. The next years they moved to Newtonville along with
several other families.

He was a farmer and owned about 300 acres of land on Bear Creek,
this was later known as the Mat Freeman place, his house was the one
in which Mack Willingham lived in for many years. He was Justice of
the Peace at one time.

Shepherd Church was organized in his home and named for him. He
was a Deacon in this church until he moved to Arkansas in 1852. He
helped in the establishment of a church in Sheridin, Ark. and served
as Deacon there until his death in 1884. He was Post-Master of
Sherdin at one time.

A11 of his children were born in Newtonville, except William, and
most of them married there, but all went to Arkansas with their
father. He had three sons who served in the Civil War. Michael was
st Lieut. Two of the boys were killed in service.

Their children: William married Elizabeth
Michael married Dolly Nall
Jasper married Nancy Lockhart
Elizabeth married Nathan Nall
Mary Ann married Alexander Nall
Thomas

Michael Shepherd, born 1793 in Anson County N.C. married his
first wife in 1820, moved to Newtonville in 1845. He owned 360 acres
of land which included the Jeter Gravlee place and part of the Yerby
place. His wife died before they moved here. He soon married again,
we don't know her name either, she only lived with him a short while
before his death. He was buried in the family cemetery near his home.
His widow moved to Arkansas in 1852.

Their children: Legrand married Eliza ?
Abigale married Elijah Howell
Elizabeth married Bedford Williams
Augemina
There were three other children, we know nothing about them.

24





image28.jpeg
Jacob Shepherd: Born in Anson County N.C. in 1812. Son of Will-
iam and Elizabeth Shepherd. He came to Alabama in 1826, along with a
large group of his friends and neighbors. He married Maria Nall,
daughter of Martin and Peninah (Poe) Nall, in 1833. She was 15 at the
time, they were not given permission to marry so they had to elope,
they rode horseback to Mississippi for the wedding, with Mr. and Mrs.
Hogan Yerby accompaning them. They settled the Mat Freeman place,
later sold it to Thomas Ashcraft and moved to Newtonville, where he
built his home; much slave labor was used in the construction of this
house; slaves made all of the brick used in the building; there is
still a mound of earth where his brick kilns were located. | saw the
place about a year ago.

He was a merchant, having bought the business of his brother
Richmond Mack upon his death in 1859. Prior to that, he operated a
large farm and was active in real estate business.

He was active in civil affairs and church work, was a Deacon in
Shepherd Church. He died of an injury received while loading a barrel
of flour in 1877.

Their children: Louisa married Jack Cates
James M. married Mollie Henry
Anjamira married 1st Everette Yerby 2nd J. A
Berry
Peninah married Joseph Gibson
Marassie married Jarrett Sudduth
Frances married Jim Kizziah
Maryetta married J. N. Yerby
Mack married Nettie Shelton
Catherine (Kitty) married John Sullivan

Richmond Mack Shepherd: Born in Anson County N.C. in 1816. He
came to Newtonville in 1845 (or 1855). He was a merchant and was
second postmaster at one time. He married Susan ? they had two
children, Mary and Sarah, we have no record of what happened to them.

He died in 1859.

Robert Shepherd: Born 1815, married Sarah Bivins in Anson County
N.C. They moved to Newtonville in 1845. According to the 1850
census he was a miller. They moved to Rankin County Miss. some time

later.

Thomas Shepherd came to Newtonville in 1854. He lived here only
a short time, then moved to Mississippi, we have no further knowledge
of him.

25




image29.jpeg
CALVIN POE

calvin Poe, son of Simon Poe, was born in North Carolina in 1806,
he came to Alabama, with his father, in 1826. He was married to Anna
Willingham.

He was Justice of the Peace and a Baptist Minister; he was pastor
of Concord Church at one time. It is entirely possible that he may
have served as pastor of Shepherd Church, the early records of
Shepherd Church were lost.

There were ten children born of this marriage, but we only have
data on James, who was born in Newtonville in 1823.

calvin, with all of his children, moved to Arkansas in 1860.
James had moved there in 1852.

James married Polly, daughter of Martin and Peninah Nall, sister
of my grandmother. He was made Judge of Saline (now Grant) County, an
office he held until he resigned to enter the Confederate Army, he was
made Major in the Army before the war ended.

They soon moved to Magnolia, Ark. and from there he was elected
to the State Legislature where he served for many years.

One of his grand sons, Dr. W. J. Poe is now living in Eastland,
Texas, he is a Dentist, and still works, he tells me, at the age of
85. | have corresponded with him for several years; his letters are
very interesting, so many stories of the old West. He tells me that
he is the only living member of a large group who moved from Arkansas
to Texas in 1894.

His grandfather, James Poe, lived with him many years, and Dr.
Poe said, "Grandfather used to tell me tales about Newtonville and the
people who lived there but | have forgotten most of them.”

There were 8 or 10 families who left Newtonville in 1852 and went
west, most of them stopped in Arkansas, but there were three Poe
families who went on, heading for the gold fields of California so
they said; one of this party died in Texas and they decided to stay
there. One of this party, Dr. Poe tells he does not remember his
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name, was with Pat Garrett when Billy The Kid was killed; It seems
that Garrett and Poe had Billy cornered in an old shack, near Lincoln
N.M. Poe went to one door and Garrett to the other, Billy came out
and was killed by Pat Garrett. | have heard other stories of this
Killing, but this is the way Dr. Poe told it to me.

Abe Poe, another relative of James Poe, was an associate of "Big
Foot" Wallace the great Indian fighter. Dr. Poe says that he had a
duel with an Indian Chief, but we have no details of this.

Dr. Poe tells me that when he was a boy he went to Cisco, Texas,
with his father, to sell cotton, and while there they were eating
lunch in a cafe, an old man came in and introduced himself as Mr.
Wright; in their conversation it developed they had mutual acquaint-
ance of a number of people; Mr. Wright said that he lived in Newton-
ville when Nathan Nall and his son was killed, and told the story
about as | have heard it from other sources.

Major James T. Poe died in 1913 and is buried in Carbon, Texas.
His wife, Polly, died in 1900 and is buried in the same place.
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THE NALL BROTHERS

Nathan Nall, the first of the Nall brothers to come to
Newtonville, settled on what is known as the Gravlee place. He
married Miss Elizabeth Clark.. He was a very successful business man
and farmer, accumulating a large tract of land.

His daughter and her husband, Rev. G. W. Gravlee continued to add
to this property until it was probably the largest farm in
Newtonville.

Nathan Nall was murdered in 1865 by some men who came to rob him.
According the the story, these men demanded his money or his life; he
put up a fight and cut one of the men on the face with a hatchet
before they shot him, one of his sons, Wiley, came to help his father
and was also killed; another of the family recognized the men, they
were from the Binions Creek Community. Later, it was said, all of
them were “taken care of” except one who went to Texas and became a
Baptist preacher under an assumed name.

His children were: Elizabeth never married
James Martin married Rebecca Womack
Mariah married Oliver Perry Poe
Malisia married Elias Wilson
Emly married Green Richards
sarah married James Wilson
Czarine married Rev. G. W. Gravlee
Bradley married Ist Flora Cason 2nd Almedia

Franklin

Silas married Emly Richards
Wiley murdered

Bradley Nall, born 1806, married Elizabeth Poe; they had one
daughter Peninah, who married John Wilson; after his death she married
a Mr. Brown. Her third marriage was to Bedford H. Williams, probate
judge of Fayette County at one time. Later they moved to Tuscaloosa
where he was also elected to the same office in that county.

Bradley Nall first settled in northern Tuscaloosa County near

Newtonville, and owned land there when he died; he soon moved to a
place near Concord, where he built a large farm and made his home.
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He died Feb. 28, 1864. According to one story that was told to
me, the Home Guard, or "dog cavalry” as some called it, were on one of
their raids and came to his house; he told his family that he would
hide but if they tried to harm any of them he meant to kill some of
them; it is said they went into the house and started to molest the
women; their screams caused Nall to come out of his hiding place, when
he entered the house they shot him. One of his descendants told us a
few years ago, "He died as a result of the Civil War" but gave us no
more information.

The records of the appraisment of his estate, for public sale,
show him to have been a weathy man. He owned machinery and tools not
found on the average farm. One item was rice grown on the farm. He

had 16 slaves valued up to $2000.00. One old lady, however, was
valued at .05.

MARTIN NALL

Martin Nall, born in South Carolina; married Peninah Poe,
daughter of Simon Poe. They came to Alabama some time before 1830.
He entered 80 acres of land, and bought 40 acres more on the Bradley
Gravlee place. He also owned 560 acres of land 8 miles north-east of
Tuscaloosa, and some lots in the town of Tuscaloosa. His home was in
Newtonville.

He died in 1836 and was buried in a family cemetery on the farm.
An interesting point about his estate was, a final settlement was not
made until 1875. We have records of where his brother, Nathan Nall,
rented his slaves, and paid rent, to the estate, for a number of
years; the last record of this was 1851, records from then until 1875
were lost.

Soon after his death, his widow married Michael Wright and moved
to a farm near Fayette; after his death, in 1854, she moved to
Arkansas.
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Their children were:
Nathan married Elizabeth Shepherd
Maria married Jacob Shepherd
Polly married James Poe (see part on Calvin Poe)
Alexander married Mary Jane Shepherd
Dolly married Michael N. Shepherd
Peninah's Wright children were:

John
J. William
Henry
Elizabeth

They all married in Arkansas

Peninah died in 1875, and is buried in Corinth Cemetery, in Grant
County near Sherdin.

We visited this cemetery in 1963, and found her grave, along with
other former residents of Newtonville. We also visited the Poe
Cemetery, which was only a few miles away, where some of the Poes were
buried, there was not many graves with markers; many of the graves had
a marker made from a piece of petrified wood.

There was, at one time, churches at these places, but they have
been moved away; however the cemeteries are well kept.
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GRAVLEE

Rev. G. W. Gravlee was born in Walker County Ala. in 1844. He
was an officer in the Confederate Army during the Civil War. Soon
after the war he came to Newtonville and married Czerina Nall,
daughter of Nathan Nall. They acquired and developed, perhaps, the
largest farm in this country, most of which is still in the hands of
his descendants; Leland still lives on the land that was homesteaded
by his grandfather, and holds the original land grant signed by the
President of the United States.

Rev. Gravlee was ordained as a Baptist Minister, and spent his
1ife directing the operation of his farm and preaching; he served
churches in all the surrounding communities for about 50 years; he
probably gave more time, talent, and money to help Shepherd Church
than any other man; a manuscript by Rev. L. A. Connell, states "Bro.
Gravlee's heart and soul was Shepherd Church™.

His advice and council was often asked by the people of this
community on church, school, and civic affairs.

He died in 1930. Mrs. Gravlee followed him in a few months.

Their children: Wiley Farmer and Teacher
Nathan  Lumberman and Merchant
Jim B.  Dentist
Jeter  Farmer
Bradley  Farmer
Macon = Merchant
Leland  Farmer
tla  married Mr. White
Metta
Cara married Mr. Walker
Mary married Mr. Paterson

Miss Elizabeth (Aunt Lizzie) Nall lived in the home of Rev. and
Mrs. Graviee.
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THE JONES FAMILY

A well known, highly respected and beloved family of Newtonville
was the Jones family.

William Wilburn Jones a doctor himself, the son of a doctor, had
two sons who were doctors, and two grandsons, Oscar, son of Ben Jones,
and Burdette Mayfield, who are doctors.

But let Dr. P. B. Mayfield of Tuscaloosa tell the story of his
ancestors. "Will give you the meager information | have about my
Jones ancestors. Dr. Giles Jones who was my great grandfather,
graduated from the Medical College of Memphis, Tenn. prior to 1840; he
moved from Albertville to Jasper, Ala. some time in the early 1840°s.

My grandfather, Dr. W. W. Jones did not go to medical school. He
studied under his father's teaching. About 1860 he started practicing
medicine; he first practiced in Jasper, Ala. He did not go to the
Civil War as a soldier, but stayed in Jasper and was the only doctor
there during the war.

About 1865 his first wife Minerva Stovall Jones, died and left
him with two small sons, Ben and Jim.

After Grandpa's first wife died he came to Newtonville and
married my grandmother, Elizabeth Womack Bell. Her first husband, Dr.
Stephen Bell had been killed in the war, leaving her one daughter,
Lovie Bell, who died at the age of 18.

Mr grandfather and grandmother had 13 children; only three of
them lived to be grown. Grandpa moved to Newtonville about 1867 and
practiced medicine on horseback until 1908, at which time he was 81.
He lived until 1911 when he died of senile exhaustion in Fayette, Ala.

Grandpa was a mason, and incidently his father Giles Jones was a
charter member of the first masonic lodge in Jasper.
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Dr. James, or Jim, Jones only practiced medicine three or four
years when he died of typhoid fever. He was married to Miss
Scharnagle, but left no children.

Uncle "Tol" Tarley W. Jones was born in 1875; he went to Acamedic
[Academic?] school and graduated at Florence, Ala. about 1896. He at-
tended Vanderbilt Medical College at Nashville, Tenn. and graduated in
1900. He practiced medicine at Newtonville until 1911. From 1911-16
he practiced at Kennedy. From 1916-1918 he practiced at Peterson,
Ala. From 1918 until his death he practiced at Fayette. He died with
emphysema and heart failure.

Aunt "Dode” Anna Dora was born in 1871. She married Dr. William
Graham who died in 1915 at Fayette. Aunt Dode died at Winfield, Ala.
age 86.

They had seven children: Eulene, Bess, Carey, Mildred, Clara,
Brooks, and Robert J. all except Carey are still living.

Mama, Willmmetta Jones was born Apr. 27, 1872. She married
Peabody Pegues Mayfield who was born at Moores Bridge in 1872. He
attended Florence, U. of A. and Peabody College in Nashville, Tenn.
He taught school for 20 years and finished his life as a farmer in
Newtonville, and died in 1930.

Uncle Ben, who was a child of the first wife of my grandfather,
married Minerva Whitney and raised a large family. He moved with his
famly to San Benito, Texas in 1918, where he died at age of 84. His
children were: Oscar, Wyman, Roxie, Florence, Hill, and Mary Lee.
only Hill and Mary Lee still live.

“Granny” Matilda Williams Vaughter was born about 1827; her
husband was in the Confederate Army, was captured by the Yankees and
never returned home.

"Granny” came to work as a housekeeper at Grandpa's home where
she stayed and worked as long as she was able. She was with Aunt Dode
in Fayette at the time of her death in 1927.
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DEDICATION

This valuable research information was written, probably in the
1960's by Buren Sullivan. He grew up in Newtonville, and we are deep-
ly indebted to him for all of the information preserved in these
pages. It has been transcribed basicly as written. Some spelling was
corrected, and a few notes added. In order to be able to prepare an
index for the book the pages have been left with the same wording on
them. Buren had double spaced his, but all the information would not
go on my computer typed pages with it doubled spaced. | will be glad
to supply an index for anyone who has an original copy of Buren's

work .

A brief genealogical history of Buren and his wife, Ruby Sullivan
has been included in this book in honor of all of their work to prese-

rve the history of Newtonville and its settlers.

Mary Davis Elmore
3908 Virginia Drive
Tuscaloosa, Alabama 35404
Tel. 205 - 553-0703
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“Granny” said she well remembered when “The stars fell on
Alabama”. She also saw the posse of men who killed the notorious
John Wilson" She also told the story of how Buncom Cave had its
beginning; one night a party of young people were on their way to
church at Buncomb, on their way they passed a giant tree 75-80 feet
tall according to Grannie's estimate, on their way home the tree had
disappeared having dropped into a big cavern; only bits of the top was
protruding above ground.

Mrs. Mayfield lived in the old Jones home, with her daughter and
son-in-law, Mr. and Mrs. Joe Gibson, until her death in July 1964.

With her passing the community lost one of the most gracious
women they ever had. Every one loved "Miss Willie", and | especially;
| grew up next door to them, our families were the best of friends.

The last time that | talked to her she gave me some valuable
information that is being used in this history.

Newtonville may never know another person like she was.
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JOHN WILSON

If all the stories that were told about John Wilson were compiled
they would fill a book. But | shall attempt to tell only a few of the
things that | have been told. No doubt many crimes committed by
others were laid to him.

He was a notorious outlaw, of whom it was said murdered many
people; he was a merchant in Newtonville after the war until his
death.

Almost every one who knew him or knew of him, had a story to tell
about him; it was said that he did most of his killings from ambush,
but on one occasion he murdered an entire family because some one
recognized him.

At another time some one saw him shoot a little Negro boy out of
a tree, for no reason except to see him fall. | mention this to show
the kind of a man that he was.

| am told that he was a member of the Home Guard, and it was
rumored that he may have been in the group when his father-in-law,
Bradley Nall, was killed and it was he who killed him.

We know that he murdered and robbed Aunt Jim Berry's first
husband, Everette Yerby, who had just returned from market where he
sold his cotton. He killed and robbed Mr. Yerby of $500.00, then
killed his horse and burned his barn. From the stories told of him it
would seem that he was a bully and a coward. He lived during the days
of reconstruction, with Carpet Bag Government, so it was easy for him
to pay the officials to allow him to get away with his crimes.

He was killed in 1873; mother was a girl 13 years old at that
time and remembered him very well; they lived about 50 yards from his
store. she said, “On the night that he was killed, "Pa" made us all

come into the house and locked the doors and blinds and told us no one
was to leave the house

| am not sure whether mama told me there were 15 men in the posse
or 15 bullets entered his body; anyway he was riddled with lead. It

as not generally known who those men were. None of them would admit
it

34




image39.jpeg
THOMAS BLAKENEY

Thomas Blakeney was born in South Carolina, (his grave marker
says in 1800 but the 1850 census says 1807). He entered land in
Newtonville in 1832; this land was part of the Whitney olace and part
of the land now owned by Mrs. (Velma Davis) Blakeney and the May-
fields. Some time later he sold this to Simon Poe and moved to the
Raymond Wright place where he raised his family.

He married Mary Roberts, after her death he married Sarah Kemp,
who died in 1862, and was buried in the first Shepherd Church
Cemetery; this is the only grave with a marker at this time. He died
in 1892 and is buried in Chapel Hill Cemetery.

One of his daughters, Kizziah, married first A. B. Lowery, who
was a grandson of Simon Poe, later she married a Mr. Branyon. Her
descendants include, Drs. Jim and Curt Branyon.

His son, William, married Lizzie Corder and had two sons, Thomas
and Vinson. Then married Lizzie Clanton. Their children wer
Newton D. born 1857, married Molly Lindsey. Their children:
A. L. (Lanthus) Blakeney M.D.
C. C. (Cecil Carlos) Blakeney M.D.
Dessie - died age 3 [added to list by Adolph Blakeney]

Belziann born 1859, married C. W. Baker. Their children:

Elizabeth Montie

Frank Coleman

J. Mute Georgia Belle
Allie Mae Pearl

Ruth Nora

Martha Jane, born 1860, married Raymond Wright. Their children
Manly
Trussie
John
Thomas
Ratha
Hosea

William Blakeney was killed, or died, in the Confederate Army.
| am inclined to think that Sarah Kemp may have been the first wife of
Thomas Blakeney. But do not have definite information on this.
[ Some of this information has been proven to be incorrect upon
further research by the Blakeney family. M.D.E. ]
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GEORGE TRAWICK

He was born in North Carolina in 1806; came to Alabama and
married Mary Watkins of Tuscaloosa County in 1831.

He was listed, in the 1850 census, as being a merchant in
Newtonville worth $1500.00. | have been unable to learn where his
store was located, it may have been the Old Trading Post, or perhaps
the store that John Wilson operated later.

He was murdered in 1864, according to the story as told by Aunt
Madie Yerby, and related to us by Felix and Umma Wilson, he had been
to a mill when he was shot from ambush with a load of buck shot, he
slumped over in his wagon and the team brought him home. We have no
record of whether his murderer was ever found. Some thought it might
have been John Wilson.

After his death they held a public sale of his property, we have
a list of the names of people who bought, what they bought, and the
price paid; one item was 500 Ibs. of salt that sold for .60 per pound.

Jacob Shepherd bought most of his land, and later sold most of it
to Dr. W. W. Jones, some of it, however, now belongs to the heirs of
Virtus Yerby.

He was buried in a cemetery across the road from Mute Baker's
home [ On A. J. Gibson, Sr. estate. ] This cemetery was used by the
shepherds until they began using the Shepherd Church Cemetery.

Our records show that he and his wife had been seperated for
several years; she and her children lived in Texas at the time of his
death.

She was cut out of his will, his property going to his brothers.
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I am including the names of people who were on the account books
when the estate of George Trawick was settled; | think it is
interesting to know the names of the people who lived in this and
surrounding communities.

George Trawick:

James S. Sudduth Adm.

murdered May 2, 1864/ Departed life intestate.

T. A. Brent

Appraisers: Jacob Shepherd

Mark Russell

This list also includes buyers at a public sale of his property, June

23, 1864

Charles N. Yonkers
Mark Rupel
Elizabeth Walker
Geo. T. Green
Elijah Howell

B. D. Harvey
William Beard

M. H. Bell

Joseph S. Clifton
Mrs. Johnson

Mrs. Elinor Abbott
Jacob Shepherd

R. M. Harris
Rebecca Alexander
James S. Sudduth
A. A. Summers
sally Wright
James M. Wright
Martha Trawick

A. F. Bell

Alex. Cobb

Jeff A. Richards
John C. Moore
John Custon
Bradford Willingham
Franklin Odgen
JOhn C. Clements
Martha James

ironah South
ariffin Trull
Julius P. Sudduth
John Kemp

James A. Thompson
L. G. Huggins

L. L. Horton
George Kelly
Samuel Palmer

A. G. Lowery
Mrs. Louisa Wilson
John Wilson
William Baker

8. H. Williams

B. F. Burkett
Seaburn Hulley
Robert Robertson
Thomas A. Brent
James J. Mayfield
Geo. s. Patterson
ira Y. Cobb
Chanah Waits

R. Simpson
William walden
Judea Poe

Boswell Freeman
Mrs. Nancy Harris
Jane Coleman
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HOGAN YERBY

Hogan Yerby was born in 1803 in Anson County N.C. He came to
Alabama in 1817, with his family and some other people; they settled
near Northport and stayed there a few years. Hogan went to Tennessee
where he met and married Sarah George of that state. They moved to
Newtonville in 1832; in 1833 he bought 40 acres of land, at a land
sale, and paid .73 1/2 per acre for it, about where the Virgil Gibson
place is now. Later, in 1836, he bought some adjoining land and built
the house that is still standing, the Joe Gibson home, it is the
oldest house in this part of the country.

He went from there to the Pilgrim Community; later he was a
merchant in Fayette, where he died Nov. 11, 18395.

Among his children were:

Francis - married Lydia Walden, father of J. N. (Bud Yerby).

Everette - married Anjamira (Aunt Jim) Shepherd.

Screptha - married Tom Ray.

Lewellen - married Betsy Ann Dodson, ggf. of Mrs. B. A. (Ruby) Sulli-
van.

Everette, son of Hogan Yerby, born 1831; married Anjamire
Shepherd in Feb. 1867. Soon after their marriage he went to sell his
cotton, he was one who shipped their cotton to Mobile. On the night
that he returned while eating his supper he was shot through a window
by John Wilson. They were alone at the time except for a Negro woman;
she was afraid to go for help, so his wife ran and got her father,
about one half mile away, when they returned the woman was gone.

Everette had been robbed of about $500.00, money for cotton sold
on the trip, his horse had been killed and his barn burned. Aunt Jim
said that he had a pot of gold buried some where on the place; it was
not found, they thought Wilson got that. Several years later Uncle
Mart Shepherd saw a man with a watch, in Tuscaloosa, which he
recognized as Everette Yerby's, he asked the man where he got it and
he replied "1 bought it from John Wilson's widow."

They only lived together about two months, he was killed in April
1867. He was buried in Old Shepherd Church Cemetery.
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HOLL IMAN

Cornelius and Warren, brothers, and Charles Holliman, whom we
think was their uncle or possibly a first cousin, came from North
Carolina in 1836 and settled here. Warren and Cornelius lived on the
Yerby place, while Charles homesteaded the western half of the Whitney
place, also part of the land owned by A. J. Gibson and Mrs. Blakeney.
His home was the old Whitney house that was burned recently.

| am told that Frank and Sid Holliman of the Chapel Hill communi-
ty were descendants of Charles Holliman.

Warren stayed here only a few years. History of Arkansas,
(Goodspeed) states "Hon. Warren Holliman, born in Anson County N.C.
moved to Alabama in 1836, then moved to Arkansas in 1840, located in
Prattsville. He improved a large farm on which he lived until his
death in 1876. He was Internal Improvement Commissioner, member of
the house of State Legislature and other offices.”

Cornelius, born 1792 in South Carolina, married Mary Plyler. He
came to Alabama in the fall of 1835, he and several others camped
during the winter and in the spring went back to Carolina and brought
their families to their new homes.

James M. Holliman, great grand son of Cornelius, born 1876, was
Post-Master at Hico at one time, was associated with his brother in
the mercantile business in Fayette. He was a practicing attorney in
Fayette and later in Birmingham, where he died in 1938. He was
married to Elizabeth Baker.

Their childre:
Cecil Holliman, Attorney in Birmingham.

James Holiiman, died at about the age of one year.

Charles Holliman, Merchant and public official, in Birmingham.

39




image44.jpeg
RAY

John W. Ray was a son of Elijah and Lucy (Wright) Ray, born 1855,
married Jane Vice, daughter of Morgan Vice.

Mr. Ray's grandfather was James Ray, who came to this country in
1836. HMr. Ray operated, with the help of his sons, a saw mill and
cotton gin. He was Justice of the Peace for a great many years. A-
fter he retired he lived on his farm until his death, his wife having
died a few years earlier.

Their children: Sid married "Babe" Sudduth.
Arthur married Stella Sudduth 2nd Stella Howard.
Oscar married Doshie Clanton.
Walter married Martha Gilliland.
Burl married Maggie Hunnicutt.
Earl married Georgia Belle Baker.

FRRREEAFERR AR LR SRR E RS ETELRERRRAAR
WRIGHT

Raymond Wright, a son of Columbus Wright, born Dec. 4, 1858.
Married Martha Ann Blakeney, daughter of William Blakeney, in 1879.

Mr. Wright lived on the old home place of Thomas Blakeney. He
was a farmer. Died Nov. 2, 1917. Buried in Chapel Hill Cemetery.

Their children:
Manley married Dora Freeman.
Trussey married Paralee Clanton.
John married Emma Hannah.
Thomas - Killed in accident in California.
Ratha married Iva Carraway.
Hosea married Addie ?
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JOSEPH G1BSON

Joseph Gibson, born 1849 died 1936. Married Peninah Shepherd,
dauaghter of Jacob and Maria Shepherd, Feb. 14, 1872.

At one time he was a merchant in Newtonville, having bought the
stock of merchandise from Maria Shepherd, and operating in the same
building; we don't know how long he ran the store but he spent the
latter part of his life on his farm.

Their children:
Jacob married Sudie Butler.
Arch married Annie Winn.
Cullen married Kate Bridges 2nd Miss Elliott
Walter married Lilly Elliott.
Claud married Dona Freeman.
Virgil married Pear! Baker.
Victor mever married.

e P R E e P
JAMES MARTIN SHEPHERD

J. M. (Mart) Shepherd, son of Jacob and Maria Shepherd, 1847 -
1921, married Mollie Henry, 1949 - 1936, on Dec. 16, 1869.

At the age of 16 he asked his father for permission to join the
Confederate Army, his father wanted him to wait until he was older,

but could not change his mind, so he gave him his best horse and let
him go.

He fought in the Battle of Chattanooga, he told me one time (if I
remember the story correctly) “We were swimming the Tennessee River
and my horse was killed under me, | caught the tail of a mule and

crossed that way." He was wounded in action and carried a minnie ball
in his arm the remainder of his life.

Their children: Emma mever married.
Joe married Lula Cannon.
Floyd married Tiny Freeman.
Sallie married Dr. Claud Bell.
Birdie married Elzy Guin.
Jake married Kate Mullins.
Maude married Carl Carter.
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Several other families, such as Vice, Patterson, Wright, Johnson,
Savage, and many others should be mentioned, but | do not have enough
information on them at this time; perhaps we can learn more later.

! think a few words should be said of the Negros of Newtonville.
There were many loyal, trustworthy Negros who, born in slavery,
continued to live with their former masters after they were given
their freedom.

Grandmother said that their slaves, they had 11 in 1860, wanted
to stay on with them, so they let them stay and share crop as long as
they wanted to.

Some of the older people will remember “"Aunt Winnie", one of
Grandfather's slaves; she had several children born in slavery, the
best known was Tamer Nall, who lived with Grandmother until she
married. Aunt Winnie married Bob Grace after they were free. She had
an older son named "Green", mentioned before, who stayed with them
until 1875. There was also a half wit boy "Noah" who would not live
with his mother after she married "Uncle Bob" so Grandmother let him
stay with her until he was accidently killed about 1890.

| tell more about the Negros of our family because | was told
about them, but | think the same conditions prevailed between the two
races here.

Mat Freeman, a large land holder, was well known and respected
among the white people of this community; he was a leader of his
people.

Other well known Negros were Mack Willingham, Squire Nall, Rube
Wilson, Wiley Driver and many others.

As a whole the white and negro races got along well together and
were very helpful to each other.
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BUREN A. and RUBY (PLYLER) SULLIVAN

Buren Alexander Sullivan was born to John H. and Willmetta
(Jones) Sullivan. Willmetta was the daughter of Dr. W. W. Jones and
Elizabeth Womack (Bell), his second wife. All of his ancestors were
pioneers in Newtonville.

Buren married Ruby Plyler, daughter of James Wesley and Mary
Alice (Yerby) Plyler. Her maternal grandparents were Dock Franklin
and Nancy Catherine (Moore) Plyler. She is a descendant of Hogan
Yerby, who was her great-great grandfather.

Ruby first became interested in genealogy during the 1950's.
She was born in the Pilgrim’'s Rest Community on June 9, 1903. On
June 3, 1921, Buren and Ruby were married. They lived in Birmingham
for many years, and had one daughter, Betty Jon, who married a Hollis.

Ruby and Buren worked together on tracing all of their ancestors
from the general Newtonville area: Sullivan, Plyler, Shepherd, Yerby,
Nall, Poe, Moore, Belk, Horn, Dodson and Walden. A1l of these families
owe much to this couple for their early research. Ruby co-authored
"Plyler Genealogy" published in 1966.

Ruby Sullivan spent fifteen years traveling and doing research
for the public, collecting over 200 family files. Buren focused most
of his research on Newtonville pioneers, which for the most part were
his ancestors. From childhood, Buren had listened to and remembered
the stories told by his grandparents about the settlement of Newton-
ville.
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We have followed the pioneers down through the years from the
time when it was necessary to make almost everything that was needed
for the home, including their clothes, their furniture, in fact nearly
everything was made at home or by a neighbor.

These people, though suffering many hardships in establishing
their homes, and building a community, had their moments of pleasure,
and took every opportunity to visit and have their friends visit them.
From the stories we used to hear, they must have enjoyed their way of
life.

Perhaps could they have seen into the future they might have been
dissatisfied with their lot; but had a prophet told them that within
100 years there would be automobiles, airplanes, radio, television,
etc. or even that there would be such a thing as electricity to light
their homes and lighten their work they would not have believed it,
they could not conceive of such things. They were satisfied to travel
in an ox wagon, read by an oil lamp or by a light from the fire place,
and entertain themselves by visiting and going to church.

Yes it is a long step from a log cabin and cooking over an open
fire to our modern way where we cook with gas and electricity; with
home made clothing to our department stores where clothing can be
bought ready made; from riding on horse-back and wagons to the modern
day travel. My grandfather rode a horse from North Carolina in 1836
and was about 6 weeks making the trip; however he came with a group of
people in wagons and that held him back, so he spent much of the time
hunting and seeing the country; the same distance can now be made in a
car in one day.

It is hard to understand why these people were willing, yes
anxious to leave their old homes and move into a land such as this
was; as one Negro woman said, "I don't see why old master left his
fine home with glass windows and fine furniture and came to this
place.” This statement was attributed to a slave owned by Bradley
Nall.
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| suppose the spirit of adventure, and the promise of free land
or cheap land caused them to move here, just as a number of families
moved on to western states as they were opened for homesteading; and

so it will be as people continue to leave the crowded places seeking
new frontiers.

Historians speak of the pioneers and their hard way of life; |
think that our descendants, and perhaps not so far in the future, will
read of how we |ived and think it was hard. They will be living in a
truly mechanical age, powered by atomic or solar energy, and will
wonder how grandpa got along with a car that had to be filled with gas
ever so often, their cars and airplanes will probably have a lifetime
supply of fuel built into them.

Those people had their periods of prosperity, but also times of
many hardships. The economic conditions in the latter part of the
19th century and the early part of this century were rather poor as
we think of them today; many of the farmers had to make "arrangements”
with a merchant to furnish them for the year, and when cotton was sold
it took most of it to pay the debt, the next year it was the same
thing over again, so it was hard to accumulate any money, some never
did.

Not many people practiced diversified farming at the turn of the
century; they grew corn and a few vegetables, with cotton as their
only cash crop; this type of farming made it hard to have the necess-
ities of life, (I speak of the average farmer, many were more prosper-
ous) many were tenant farmers and could never hope to attain much, nor
did they ever hope to own a home of their own.

They had no pure bred live stock; their cattle was a species of
a long horned variety, not very good milkers, in fact it took several
cows to produce enough milk for the average family. Their chickens
were a mixture of many breeds, and would only lay eggs in the spring,
even a sparrow will do that.

People seldom ate their eggs, but would save them and send to the
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store to trade for something that was needed for the home.

Their hogs, called razor-backs or ridge rooters, ran on open
range, as did their cattle, one writer in describing these hogs said
"their nose was so long and sharp they could drink buttermilk out of a
jug", he said "to tell if one was ready to butcher just pick him up by
his ears, if his head went down or overbalanced his body, they turned
him loose, but if his backend went down he was ready to butcher:, and
“they didn't cut them up but packed them whole in a box of salt 1ike
sardines, then when they wanted meat they cooked the whole hog."
These hogs ran semi wild in the woods; in the summer people would go
round up their hogs and mark them, each man had had a registered mark
to identify their own hogs; they would, at the time, select several
and bring them out to fatten for meat.

The clothing worn by men and boys was usually a dress up suit for
wear on Sundays and overalls for everyday wear; all of the boys went
barefoot in the summer time, some men did also, | knew one man who
[went] to town barefooted and carried his shoes in his hand, some one
asked him why he brought his shoes if he didn't intend to wear them,
he replied, "I just want folks to know that | have some."

Boys wore knee pants, sometimes called knickers, until they were
about grown, | knew one fellow who had to borrow a pair of long pants
in which to get married.

| don’t know what the women wore, except their dresses were long
and hid their feet, and I am told wore enough under clothing to equip
a small clothing store.

! wonder what Granny, or even Mama, would say if they could see
the slim jims and shorts that the ladies wear today.

45





image50.jpeg
The years pass, and the generations; each doing what they could
to bring about improved living conditions in the community. It seems
to me that more progress has been made in the last 25 years than in
the 125 years that preceded it.

This community is considered to be a peacefull community insofar
as the pecple almost never have any trouble with their neighbors.
This was not always the case; court records are full of records of law
suits, charges and counter charges of crimes, and misdemeanors. These
things are seldom heard of now, and almost never in Newtonville.

We have just returned from a trip to Arkansas where we visited in
the home of Ernest and Mattie Shepherd, great grand children of Isaac
Shepherd, also a number of people who are descendants of former
residents of Newtonville, including an aged lady who was a first
cousin of my mother.

We were able to find the grave of my great grand mother Peninah
Nall, and many others whom we had heard of that moved from here in
the early days.

Aunt Lou Cates visited this place soon after the Civil War,
incidently she said the train was robbed on the trip, but they took
nothing from her, she was wearing a Masonic Emblem at the time and
thought the robbers saw that and passed her by. | have often
wondered if it may have been the James brothers. She used to tell me
many stories of our relatives in Arkansas.

Mama also visited the Shepherd, Poe, and Wright families in
Sherdin, Ark. about 1830 and as long as she lived she loved to tell of
her visit among these people. Now after seeing and knowing them | can
understand why she liked them so much; they tried in every way to make
our trip pleasant, and indeed they did. | shall always remember and
love them.

When we think of “the good old days" it is interesting to read of
them and hear of the people who lived then, but | think we would not
care to go back and live as they had to live.
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Although there was a lot of time and labor involved in the
compiling of this story, | have enjoyed the work, learning about the
lives and the activities of the people who lived in the last century.
If possible | shall continue to search for information on other
families, in the hope that | can find more interesting history of
Newtonville.

The information used in this story was obtained from
court records, wills, deeds, settlement of estates, and
State Archives. From the stories and legends handed down
from one generation to another; but mostly from listening,
as a small boy, to my parents, my grandmother, and others
tell these stories of the past.

My deepest regret is that they were not written at the
time because | can recall but very little of them.

(B. A. s.)
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THE HISTORY OF NEWTONVILLE AND ITS PIONEER CITIZENS

BY
BUREN SULLIVAN

FOREWORD:

When | started to write the "History of Newtonville” 1 soon
became aware of my inability to write the story, because of my meager
boonladge of the events that might be of interest to those who might
read it.

This is not meant to be a connective narrative, but written as
memory brings it to me, and told as | would, more or less, tell it as
T on convensation with you. | realize that some of the time elements
i overlap, but hope that the reader will be able to determine the
era of which | write.

| am grateful to the many people who helped me in compiling this
story, especially my wife who in her genealogical work has helped a
lot in that way.

T undertook to write this upon the insistance of many of my
friends, because the events and names of some of the people that |
Fove ineluded would be, some day, completely lost and forgotten unless
it is recorded by someone.

There will probably be errors in the data on some of the
families, and in the dates of some of the events, but | have given
it as | have the information.

To those of you who read it we hope that it may be of help to
comeone, and that it may help to develop an interest in our ancesters
and events of the past,

May | dedicate it to the descendants of the pioneers, and to my
many friends in Newtonville and elsewhere.

Ye Pioneers, it is to you

The debt of gratitude is due;

Ye builded wiser than ye knew

The broad foundation

on which our superstructure stands.
Pearre.
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Newtonville is located in the southern part of Fayette County,
in Hico beat or Township, on the western side of Sipsey River.

This area was part of the hunting grounds of the Chickasaw Ind-
ians at the time the first white people came to this country; the line
between the Chickasaws and Choctaws was about where the Fayette and
Pickens County line is now located. Then a short distance Northeast
was Cherokee country; also a few miles Southeast was Creek territory;
there had been much fighting among these four tribes over the hunting
rights in this country, but prior to 1800 a settlement was made
establishing boundry lines.

There were no "Indian Towns" here so far as | know, most of their
towns were located on large rivers; however | know of a few places
where arrow points, pieces of flint, broken pottery ect. would
indicate that these places may have been regular campsites; without
the advice of an archeologist | would be unable to determine when and
by whom these sites were used.

By the year 1800 the Chickasaws were scattered over a large area
and doing a Tittle farming with most of them living in houses; histor-
ians tell us these Indians were an intelligent, peaceful tribe; they
often came into contact with white traders and sometimes visited white
settlements on the Tombigbee River and elsewhere, thus learning to
build houses and slowly adapting themselves to the way of the white
man.

They grew corn, beans, potatoes, and other vegetables, supplimen-
ting this with hunting and fishing; we have all heard the stories of
how the men spent their time hunting and fishing while the women did
the work; | think this was (a) good idea that we should have learned
from them.

The Indians cleared the land by burning the timber thus killing
it and planted their crops among the dead trees.

When the first white settlers came they found large areas covered
with reed where the Indians had cleared and later abandoned the land.
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My Grandmother said that when her parents came to this country,
she was a very small girl, they found this “reedbrake”, as it was
called, covered most of country around Newtonville.

The first people to come to this part of Alabama found no roads,
only a few Indian trails that could be traveled only by horse back on
on foot, so they had to cut roads and cross the streams as they came
to them by fording or rafting across. Some men came in that way in
the early 1800's and lived among the Indians for a while, a few men
built homes and then went back for their families; others brought
their families with them, without any knowledge of the country, just
hoping to find a place to settle.

It was after Alabama was made a state that great numbers began to
come and build permanent homes. These men were rugged and seemed to
enjoy hard work, for carving a home from the wilderness was hard; the
women were gentile and not afraid of the hardships they met in helping
to build a home and community.

These people always helped their neighbors when they could, in
fact about the only social contacts were house raisings, log rollings,
and quilting bees, then the whole community came to help; after the
work was done, they had a big dinner after which they had a few hours
of fun; they had foot races, shooting and wrestling matches, and
parlor entertainment; they really enjoyed the opportunity to get to-
gether.

There were not many Indians here at that time, most of them
having been moved out after the Creek Indian War, but a few who had
homes stayed a while after the whites moved in; they were friendly and
often helped the settlers get established in their new homes; and so
it was they lived together in peace until the increase of white
people and bad treatment forced them to leave.

The last Indians left here in 1839.
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There were many wild animals living in the reedbrake and forests
at that time; bears, wolves and panthers were numerous and dangerous.
Men had to carry a gun for protection; women and children never went
far from the house alone. Grandmother told of going to visit a
neighbor with her parents and on their way home, late in the afternoon
a panther followed them, screaming she said "It followed us nearly to
our house”, she was badly frightened and of course never forgot the
incident. | recall a story they used to tell of a boy who wondered
away from home and got lost, many days later the searching party found
his clothes and mangled body where animals had killed him.

The men carried a gun at work for protection and to kill game for
food. There were plenty of deer and Wild turkey as well as small
game. The settlers traded furs and deer skins at the Trading Post, as
did the Indians. The people had to depend upon this game for meat
until they could grow some hogs and cattle. They did some trading
with Indians for corn and vegetables.

Their houses were built of logs, with the cracks filled with clay
to keep the cold out; the floors were sometimes packed earth, or split
Togs called punchons; the only lumber they had was rip sawn by hand
until a saw mill was brought into the country. Windows were holes cut
in the walls to let air and light into the room, during the winter
they had to be kept closed; it was many years before they could get
window glass. Tallow was used to make candles to give light. Some
people had a little brass lamp with an open wick that burned some kind
of oil. Grandmother had one of these lamps when I was a boy.

Another valuable asset they owned was a good Cur Dog to protect
their livestock from the wild animals.

Prior to 1800 white people who went into Indian lands were not
protected from the Indians, but a treaty signed by the Government and
the Indians in 1800 and 1803, permitted the people to settle and trade
with the Indians with Government Protection.





